A Framework for Effectiveness

Report on Victoria and Esquimalt Policing - Governance and Funding Issues -

January 31, 2012

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	3
Introduction	4
Terms of Reference	5
Methodology	6
Interviews	6
Background	7
Esquimalt Police and Fire Department	 ጸ
Victoria Police Department	8
Amalgamation	9
Public Opinion Polls	11
Financing and Accounting Agreement	11
2010 Audit of Victoria Police Department	11
Esquimalt Policing and Law Enforcement Advisory Panel	13
Victoria Police Board Structure	13
Current Budget Process	14
Issues and Analysis	. 14
Governance – Issues and Structure	14
Decision-making Processes - Finance	21
Methods for Dispute Resolution	23
Other Issues Affecting Board Effectiveness	23
Proposed Solutions	24
Overarching Recommendations – Name Change	25
Overarching Recommendations – Framework Agreement	25
Overarching Recommendations – Review Process	27
Recommendations – Governance Issues and Structure	27
Recommendations – Decision-making Processes about Finance	30
Recommendations – Methods for Dispute Resolution and Managing Conflict	31
Recommendations – Other Issues Affecting Board Effectiveness	32
Appendix	33
Demographics and Criminal Code Offences	33
Calls for Service 2006-2011	33
Policing Costs per Capita	34
Percentage of Total Victoria Police Department Budget, by Community	34

Executive Summary

The police services of the Township of Esquimalt were amalgamated with the Victoria Police Department in 2003 because its elected officials and the Solicitor General believed it was in the best interests of its citizens to do so. A collaborative process between the Esquimalt's and Victoria's Mayors and staff and the Police Services Division of the Ministry of Public Safety and the Solicitor General resulted in a quick transition to the new structure. The transition plan dealt with the immediate logistical problems rather than setting up structures and processes for the long term health of the new department or board. The plan contained no process for resolving issues that arose during the period following the amalgamation. No consideration was given to providing the new amalgamated Police Board with the tools it would need to successfully operate with members from different perspectives and histories who did not have a common vision of policing.

The intent of those involved in the Transition Committee was that the formula for sharing costs, the name of the amalgamated force and other details would be reviewed (and perhaps adjusted) after one year. Unfortunately, the review did not take place. As a result, when disagreements over governance, funding and service delivery surfaced structures and processes were not adjusted. In short, the new Board and Department were not given the structure they needed to succeed.

In conducting this study Jean Greatbatch interviewed those most involved in the current governance structure and conducted an exhaustive review of relevant documents. She canvassed concerns and perspectives to develop a list of issues that must be addressed. Jean sought input from interviewees about possible solutions.

In light of the concerns expressed and the history contained in the documents, Ms. Greatbatch is making recommendations in three broad areas. Her overarching recommendations include continuing the amalgamation; changing the names of both the Department and the Board to reflect a true partnership; the negotiation of a Framework Agreement between the City of Victoria and the Township of Esquimalt that would deal in detail with financial processes and service delivery; and a review of the new structure, funding formula and processes after five years. She recommends an improved strategic planning process and new structures for increasing community input to improve governance. Ms. Greatbatch's key recommendations about financial decision-making include more control for each Municipality over patrol staffing and costs, improved budgeting processes and an efficiency review to look at cost-savings. To ensure that disagreements are dealt with both quickly and constructively Ms. Greatbatch is recommending a conflict resolution process.

There are 43 recommendations in total, each designed to address specific concerns raised. Taken together they provide a framework for effectiveness in the governance of the police services in Esquimalt and Victoria.

Introduction

January 31, 2012

In October 2011, Clayton Pecknold, Director of Police Services for British Columbia, appointed Jean Greatbatch to study the issues causing conflict between the City of Victoria, the Township of Esquimalt and the Victoria Police Board. This report summarizes the concerns and insights of those involved. It recommends procedures and practices to ensure the Township of Esquimalt and City of Victoria have a more effective policy-driven Police Board, and as a result, more effective delivery of police services.

In 2002 a process was put in place to amalgamate the Esquimalt and Victoria Police departments. Although both Municipal Councils had approved the amalgamation and the initial outcome was positive, over time they became concerned that the Police Board was not functioning effectively and there were no agreed upon procedures to improve the situation.

The City of Victoria and the Township of Esquimalt serve two distinct populations and have different visions of service delivery. To be successful, the amalgamation required the new Police Board to acknowledge there was a difference in cultures between the two communities. The Board needed to provide an overall vision, policy directives in accordance with the *Police Act* that responded to community needs, strong leadership and ongoing evaluation.

The urgency of the initial set up—the amalgamation Transition Committee only had a few weeks—militated against setting up practices and procedures to ensure ongoing Board effectiveness. It was assumed that at a later date mechanisms would be put in place to ensure the Board would meet the requirements for effective oversight of policing in both communities.

As a result, Board members faced a number of challenges: lack of clarity of their role (policy) and the role of staff (operations); no effective strategic planning mechanism and evaluation process; and no means to address concerns. Over time, as Board members, the Municipal Councils and their constituents saw no means of addressing their community policing concerns, there were piecemeal attempts to address issues. This often led to a worsening situation.

This report outlines how, following the BC Police Board Handbook and building on the expertise of those involved, procedures and practices can be set in place to address these concerns. These will ensure that, under the direction of the Police Board, staff can provide more effective, community-responsive police services to Esquimalt Township and the City of Victoria.

Over the course of the study Jean Greatbatch reviewed hundred of documents and interviewed over thirty people who had significant involvement with the policing issues under review. All interviewees were eager to share their observations, opinions and thoughts about the history of the conflict and possible resolutions to the issues. Senior staff at the Victoria Police Department, the City of Victoria and the Township of Esquimalt were very helpful in this process by providing her with information, documentation and data. The Executive Assistant to the Victoria Police Board answered questions about Board procedures and supplied historical documents. Staff at Police Services assisted Ms. Greatbatch's work by giving her invaluable background information and documentation.

Terms of Reference

The terms of Reference for the study were set as follows:

I. Overview

Under Police Act Section 42 (1) "the director [of Police Services], may under the director's own initiative or on request of a council or board, study, investigate and prepare a report on matters concerning law enforcement and crime prevention in British Columbia or in a designated area of British Columbia."

II. Framework

As per Section 42, the Director of Police Services, will conduct a study into issues pertaining to the policing of the City of Victoria (Victoria) and The township of Esquimalt (Esquimalt).

The study will look at the following issues:

- Governance issues and structure
- Decision making processes regarding financing
- Methods for dispute resolution
- Other issues that affect the ability of the Board to work effectively

III. Process

Police Services will hire a third party to investigate any challenges regarding the issues outlined in Section II above with respect to Victoria and Esquimalt and will, in the course of this investigation, look for mutual solutions and make recommendations.

Solutions and recommendations cannot contradict any provisions in the Police Act, or any other provincial or federal statute.

IV. Report

A report will be submitted to the Director of Police Services by January 30, 2012. The report will include:

- Identification of the issues (outlined in the Section II above)
- Analysis of such issues
- Solutions and recommendations

In short, Ms. Greatbatch's overall mandate is to identify the issues underlying the conflict between the municipalities and with the Victoria Police Board, to look for common ground for resolving identified issues and to make recommendations for resolution of those identified issues for which there does not appear to be common ground.

Methodology

Information contained in this report was gathered from twenty six in person interviews, six telephone interviews, reviewing previous reports, documents provided by interviewees, minutes of the Victoria Police Board meetings, and documents provided by the Township of Esquimalt, the City of Victoria, the Victoria Police Department, the Victoria Police Board and the Police Services Division.

Interviews

Interviewees were asked open-ended questions to elicit their opinions, their observations of events that had led to the current situation, and their thoughts about possible resolutions. Efforts to set up interviews with one former mayor and one Victoria Police Board member were unsuccessful. Those interviewed are from the following stakeholder groups:

Municipal Mayors and Councillors

Mr. Dean Fortin, Mayor of Victoria

Ms. Barbara Desjardins, Mayor of Esquimalt

Mr. Alan Lowe, former Mayor of Victoria

Ms. Meagan Brame, Councillor, Esquimalt

Ms. Lynda Hundleby, Councillor, Esquimalt

Mr. Donald Linge, former Councillor, Esquimalt

Senior Staff of Victoria Police Department, Victoria Police Board and Municipalities

Ms. Gail Stephens, City Manager, City of Victoria

Mr. Tom Zworski, City of Victoria Solicitor

Ms. Laurie Hurst, Chief Administrative Officer, Township of Esquimalt

Mr. Jamie Graham, Chief Constable, Victoria Police Department

Mr. Del Manak, Deputy Chief, Victoria Police Department

Mr; John Drucker, Deputy Chief, Victoria Police Department

Mr. Steve Ing, Inspector, Victoria Police Department

Mr. Scott Seivewright, Comptroller, Victoria Police Department

Mr. Darrel Maclean, Inspector (Retired), Victoria Police Department

Mr. Clark Russell Inspector, Victoria Police Department

Ms. Barb Cameron, Executive Assistant to the Victoria Police Board

Victoria Police Board Members

Ms. Kathy Mick, Esquimalt Community Appointee

Ms. Joan Kotarski, Victoria Community Appointee

Ms. Lindalee Brougham

Mr. David Johns

Mr. Gordy Dodd

Mr. Ralston Alexander

Ms. Catherine Holt, former Board member (2004-2008)

Members of the Esquimalt Policing and Law Enforcement Advisory Panel

Mr. Richard Mandy

Mr. Warren Carrie

Mr. Graham Lang

Ms. Donna Humphries

Union Representatives

Mr. Tom Stamatakis, President, B.C. Police Association

Mr. John Burrows, President, CUPE Local 50

Ms. Susan Jansen, National Representative, CUPE

Police Service Division

Mr. Kevin Begg, former Director of Police Services

Background

The Township of Esquimalt is a small community of approximately 17,400 residents. It covers 7.04 square kilometres of land located 4 km west of the City of Victoria. Its tax base is mainly residential, as it lacks major industries and commercial centres. The largest non-residential contribution to its municipal budget is the Esquimalt Naval Base, which provides an annual payment in lieu of taxes (PILT). The Base's PILT is 33% of Esquimalt's tax base. Until recently the Federal government has based the PILT payment on the Provincial assessed rate. However, in the past year it has paid a lower Federal assessed value for the Naval Base land. This resulted in a reduction of \$350,000 in revenue for the Township, the equivalent of a 1.5% reduction in property taxes.

As part of its 2009-2011 Strategic Plan, the Esquimalt Council requested the Mayor to improve police services by encouraging a provincial audit, lobbying for a more significant role for Esquimalt on the Victoria Police Board and improving communication between the Esquimalt appointee on the Victoria Police Board and the Council. In addition, the Council set a strategic priority of ensuring policing costs were affordable. The demographics of Esquimalt have resulted in a high rate of serious crime on the Township. Group homes, transients, addicts, the unemployed, and parolees and probationers who are red-zoned out of downtown are attracted by the low rents in the Township. The number of violent criminal code offences, including home invasions,

sexual assaults, and domestic assaults, is high. Esquimalt's share of Victoria Police Department's Priority 1 calls for service has ranged from 13.9% to 17.9% in the past six years.

The City of Victoria, BC's Provincial capital since 1849 has a resident population of approximately 80,000 and covers an area of 19.7 square kilometres. The daily population grows to as many as 250,000 when cruise ship visitors, government employees and residents of other municipalities in the Capital Regional District flood into the downtown area. Because the City contains most of the social services for the Region, its population includes many seniors, people with mental and physical disabilities, people with addictions, people on income assistance and the homeless. The industrial base of the City is mainly public administration, tourism and retail. The City receives some payments from the Province of B.C. for the Legislature and other government properties, based on the Provincial assessed rate. Victoria and Esquimalt combined have the highest crime rate and the lowest annual income in the region.²

Esquimalt Police and Fire Department

The Township of Esquimalt established a joint police and fire service when it was incorporated in 1912. Until 1950, its non-civilian staff members were either police officers or firefighters. Following unionization of the force in 1957 non-civilian staff were fully amalgamated into a combined department led by a Chief Constable, Deputy Police Chief, and Deputy Fire Chief. The department consisted of five platoons, composed of a Fire Sergeant, a Police Sergeant and between five and seven constables. In addition eight specialised officers were employed to liaise with the community, conduct investigations and fight street crime. The department operated with a "no call too small" philosophy. Its headquarters was the Esquimalt Public Safety Building.

Victoria Police Department

The Victoria Police Department was established in 1852 and currently comprises 243 police officers and 106 civilian staff. Its sworn officers are members of the Victoria City Police Union and civilian staff members are represented by the Canadian Union of Public Employees. The Victoria Police Department operated on a community based policing model during the 1980's. The Department opened its first community sub-station in 1987, in James Bay. Other stations opened in Blanshard, Fairfield, Victoria West and Fernwood over the next two years.

In 2001 the Victoria Police Department joined with other emergency response providers in the Capital Regional District to form the Capital Region Emergency Service Telecommunications Incorporated (CREST) – an independent agency to handle emergency calls. Since the inception of the CREST system problems with coverage in Esquimalt and in underground garages in the City have necessitated uniformed officers working in pairs and relying on cellular telephones for back up.

² See Appendix for the most recent statistics on population and criminal code offences

¹ See Appendix for a breakdown in Priority 1, 2, 3, 4 – 9 calls between Victoria and Esquimalt

Amalgamation

Between 1979 and 2001 serious issues became apparent within the Esquimalt Police and Fire Department. As a result, the Esquimalt Municipal Council and Esquimalt Police Board announced that it intended to separate the police and fire services. The Council voted to amalgamate the police service with the Victoria Police Department. Shortly thereafter the City of Victoria announced it had reached agreement with the Township to provide it with contracted fire services. Incumbent Esquimalt firefighters would be required to apply for a position with the Victoria Fire Department if they wished to be employed. The decision to contract with the City for fire services was overturned following the municipal election in November 2002. The new Council cancelled the contract with the City and established a stand-alone Esquimalt Fire Department.

In July 2002, then Solicitor-General Rich Coleman, announced that the Esquimalt Police Department and Victoria Police Department would be amalgamated. He appointed the Director of Police Services, to head up a small Transition Committee to make recommendations for a smooth change-over. The Committee was composed of the Director of Police Services, the Chief Constables of both police forces, City Managers from each municipality, and the Presidents of both Police Unions. Five subcommittees composed of rank and file officers, civilian staff, the Unions, Council members and managers from both Victoria and Esquimalt were struck to create integration plans within 14 weeks. The subcommittees recommended a decentralized model for the new force based on: three geographic zones, each commanded by an inspector and with its own resources; a method of community-based policing prioritizing interaction with youth and schools; and specialized units within each zone to target local issues. The Finance Subcommittee recommended against a fee for service contract model and developed a funding formula.

The recommendations of the subcommittees relevant to this report include the following:

- All costs for providing policing services to both communities be included in the amalgamated police department's budget;
- Each community to pay a percentage of the police department budget, based on converted assessment (including PILT), similar to allocation for other Capital Regional District funding formulae and that would result in cost neutrality. The City of Victoria would continue to provide administrative services such as payroll to the Victoria Police Department. The funding formula to be applied as an interim measure for the 2003 budget year;
- The Province be asked to fund one-time transitional costs;
- The amalgamated department be named "Victoria Police Department" for the first year of its existence. Costs for a name change (from "Esquimalt Police Department"), estimated at \$220,000, could be included in the 2003 department budget;
- Decals on Esquimalt Police Department cars be changed and shoulder flashes on members' uniforms changed to "Victoria Police Department";

- Thirty nine sworn Esquimalt Police Department officers be integrated into the new Department and covered by the Collective Agreement between the Victoria Police Department and the Victoria Police Union. Seven civilian Esquimalt Police Department staff would join the Victoria City staff CUPE local;
- An amalgamated Board be established, tasked with "setting priorities, goals and objectives of the new police department and developing the annual police department budget. The Board would be composed of the mayors of the two communities, an appointee from each of the communities and five members appointed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council. The Mayor of the City of Victoria to chair the Board, with the Mayor of Esquimalt to be the Vice-Chair;
- Each of the three operational geographic zones be headed by an inspector, responsible for managing and deploying staff in his/her area. A Patrol Inspector coordinate deployment across all areas. An Investigations Inspector coordinate investigations force-wide. An increase in primary response officers, community and school liaison officers, beat and bicycle units, and specialty units for surveillance and other enforcement;
- Dispatch be centralized at the Victoria Police Department 9-1-1 call centre. The Esquimalt Public Safety Building continue to house police staff around the clock, but its front counter to be open only from 08:00 to 18:00 weekdays, consistent with other Departments' practices.

There were no specific mechanisms for review of the amalgamation terms nor did the Transition Committee specify who would be responsible for reviewing the funding formula and the Department's name.

Provincial Order in Council M395 (Victoria/Esquimalt Amalgamating Ministerial Order) established the amalgamated Victoria Police Department and appointed an amalgamated Victoria Police Board effective January 1, 2003. The Board was composed of the Mayor of the City of Victoria (Chair); the Mayor of Esquimalt (Vice-Chair); an appointee from each of the two communities; and five members appointed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council. All former employees of the Esquimalt Police Department who wished to work for the amalgamated police department were given the opportunity to transfer to Victoria Police Department without loss of seniority or benefits. The B.C. Pension Corporation ruled that all former Esquimalt Police Department staff members would be considered employees of the Victoria Police Board for their entire length of service.

The Victoria Police Department established a Victoria West Division made up of: an inspector; patrol officers; beat-bicycle officers; community policing officers; plain-clothes youth/gang officers; school liaison officers; a supervisor and civilians who staffed the front counter.

In 2004, then Chief Constable Battersill announced that as a result of an operational review of the Victoria Police Department, the staff complement at the Victoria West Division would change. All patrol, bicycle, youth/gang officers, one of the community policing officers and the supervisor were redeployed to the Victoria headquarters.

Public Opinion Polls

In July 2004 the Victoria Police Department conducted a public opinion survey of Esquimalt residents. Seventy six percent felt that the Victoria Police Department was doing a good or excellent job. Over three quarters (78%) were satisfied or very satisfied with the amalgamation. Eighty six percent (86%) of respondents reported they were satisfied or very satisfied with Victoria Police Department's services. There was a positive perception of service since the departments were amalgamated. Almost all (93%) of respondents said they felt safe in Esquimalt.

A later poll, conducted in 2007, after the operational review, showed a 17% decline in Esquimalt citizens' satisfaction with the Victoria Police Department. Only 69% reported being satisfied or very satisfied with the Victoria Police Department's service. The key areas for improvement Esquimalt respondents required for their satisfaction to increase were: more uniformed patrols/increased community visibility (85%); more time spent targeting criminals (53%); more crime prevention work in community (53%); hiring more officers (50%); and officers spending more time interacting with citizens (46%).

Financing and Accounting Agreement

On June 9, 2009 the Mayors of the City of Victoria, Township of Esquimalt and the Victoria Police Board entered into an agreement to formalize financial procedures for a period of five years. The terms of the Agreement had been developed by the finance staff of the Municipalities and Victoria Police Department. The Agreement contained the following clauses relevant to this report:

- A list of costs to be included in the Victoria Police Department budget submitted for approval by the City and Township Councils.
- Each Municipality's share of the costs would "continue to be based on the converted value of land and improvements, including properties exempt from taxation, assessed for hospital district purposes in their respective municipalities in each budget year."
- The preliminary budget request for the following calendar year would be provided to each municipality by October 31.
- A joint meeting would be held by December 31 of each year between the Victoria Police Board and both Councils to "provide feedback and discussion" on the budget request for the following year.
- A final budget request would be provided by the Board to each Municipality by February 28 of each year.

2010 Audit of Victoria Police Department

By 2009 the Director of Police Services became concerned about the accountability of the Victoria Police Department and the Board to the citizens of Esquimalt. Since the amalgamation the Victoria West detachment had been effectively dismantled, Esquimalt was paying an increasing amount for services and there was insufficient data provided to explain costs. In March 2010, the Police Services Division issued a report of an audit of Victoria Police Department's service levels. Overall the audit team found that Victoria

Police Department provided adequate and effective service to the citizens of both Victoria and Esquimalt. Some of the key findings relevant to this report include:

- The crime rate in Victoria and Esquimalt is high compared to other communities with municipal police departments
- The Victoria Police Department's case load was high compared to most other municipal police departments
- The police department consistently had the highest costs per capita of all the municipal forces
- Calls for service from Esquimalt had historically been more serious than calls from Victoria. For example, there have been a higher number of Priority 1 calls and calls to which 10 units were dispatched than in the City
- The average response time for Priority 1 calls was eight minutes (one minute over the best practice target)
- The municipalities had failed to review the interim funding formula recommended by the Finance Sub-Committee of the amalgamation Transition Committee
- The service model recommended by the Operational Sub-Committee of the amalgamation Transition Committee had not been implemented. The result was the lack of a dedicated Esquimalt patrol
- The maximum strength for each patrol has not been examined since 2003
- The Victoria Police Department management had no capacity to evaluate performance of their patrol functions

The audit team made three major recommendations about the funding, structure and governance of the amalgamated department:

- 1. The current service delivery model be revised to allow Esquimalt to contract for policing services with any municipal police department in the Capital Regional District. The terms of the contract would include:
 - minimum level of service
 - mandatory dedicated patrol for the municipality
 - opting in and opting out provisions for specific services
 - a fixed schedule for contract review
- 2. A new funding formula be developed as part of the contract negotiations. The formula would include a fixed schedule for review
- 3. The current governance structure be revisited to ensure:
 - Esquimalt have the capacity to form its own police board to address governance issues within its jurisdiction
 - The new board be appointed in keeping with current Police Board appointment processes
 - The role of the Board would be to manage the relationship with the contractual partner and oversee delivery of police services in Esquimalt

The Director of Police Services presented the results of the audit to the Victoria Police Board on March 14, 2010. He attended subsequent meetings to answer Board members' questions. During his presentations his authority to conduct the audit and its

recommendations were repeatedly challenged by a Victoria Police Department senior staff member and some Board members.

Esquimalt Policing and Law Enforcement Advisory Panet³

On June 3, 2010 Order in Council 303 approved the establishment of an Esquimalt police governing structure to determine the police services required by the Township; to submit a report to the Minister of Public Safety and Solicitor General and the Director of Police Services on services required; and to make recommendations for meeting the requirements of section 15 of the Act. The Mayor of Esquimalt was appointed the Chair of the Panel and its spokesperson. Four members of the community were appointed to the Panel. The Chief Constable assigned the same senior staff member who had challenged the Director of Police Services' authority to be the Department's liaison with the Panel.

During the fall of 2010 the Panel held two public meetings and developed a website to ask citizens their opinion about policing using a Strengths Weaknesses Opportunities and Threats (SWOT) analysis. An Esquimalt Township staff member summarized the community input into four key points:

- Visibility and interaction with officers is needed within the community and at events
- Being part of a larger organization adds value in the form of access to specialized services
- Community partnerships are essential for crime prevention
- Citizens want value for money through a dedicated police presence

In January 2011 the Panel met with the Esquimalt Council and developed key factors for policing the Township, including:

- Community policing based on consultation, crime prevention and problem solving was the preferred model
- School liaison, bicycle and foot patrols are important
- A dedicated patrol for the Township
- Accessibility to policing services after business hours
- Cost containment
- Meaningful local governance of the police service

Victoria Police Board Structure

Under section 25 of the *Police Act* and the recommendations of the Governance Subcommittee of the Victoria Esquimalt Police Amalgamation Transition Committee, the Mayor of Victoria serves as the chair of the amalgamated Victoria Police Board. The Mayor of Esquimalt serves as the Vice-Chair. The Board meets monthly, except in August. It holds planning meetings with the Victoria Police Department senior

³ This report takes no position on the appropriate title for the advisory group struck under Order in Council 303. To avoid confusion with the Victoria Police Board, I will refer to the advisory group as a "panel"

management twice each year and meets with Victoria and Esquimalt Councils to present its budget.

The Board has three standing committees: Governance, Human Resources and Finance. Committee members are appointed by the Board Chair. The Governance Committee deals with the development of policy and procedures for the Board and oversees the development of policies for the Victoria Police Department. The Human Resources Committee oversees the hiring and performance of the Chief Constable. The Finance Committee develops the Victoria Police Department budget, in conjunction with the Victoria Police Department Comptroller.

Current Budget Process

Currently the Chief Constable and Deputies ask senior staff members of the Victoria Police Department for their budget requests for the following year by August 31st of each year. In September the Victoria Police Board Finance Committee meets with the Department's Comptroller and the Chief Constable to review budget requests. The Committee produces a draft budget for presentation to the Board, for approval by October 31st. On November 1st the budget request is sent to each municipality. In early December the Board holds a joint meeting with both Councils to present the budget. In January the Board meets with the Victoria City Council to present its final budget and in April with the Esquimalt Council to present the final budget.

Issues and Analysis

This section of the report contains the issues identified during the interviews and my analysis of the issues, in the order designated in the terms of reference for the study.

Governance - Issues and Structure

Section 26 (4) of the *Police Act* delineates the role of Police Boards as follows:

In consultation with the chief constable, the municipal police board must determine the priorities, goals and objectives of the municipal police department.

The B.C. Police Board Handbook, describes the role of police boards as:4

3.2 Legislated Mandate and Main Oversight Functions

The role of a municipal police board is to establish a municipal police department and to provide general direction to this department, in accordance with relevant legislation and in response to community needs. Municipal police boards are created independently from municipal councils and from the provincial government. This removes boards from partisan council politics and recognizes that both the municipality and the province have legitimate interests in municipal policing.

⁴ BC Police Board Handbook (Victoria: Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General, Policing and Community Safety Branch, Police Services Division, 2005)

As stated in the introduction and to reaffirm, municipal police boards in British Columbia perform four main governance functions:

- 1. Employers of sworn and civilian staff;
- 2. Policy and direction setters;
- 3. Financial overseers; and
- 4. Discipline authorities for policy and service complaints with the Chair being responsible for discipline for Chief and Deputy

Policy versus Operational

Distinguishing an "operational" matter that falls outside the board's jurisdiction from general management and policy matters that fall within the board's jurisdiction lies at the heart of the relationship between the board and the department. Sections of the Police Act are intended to prevent direct board interference in the actual policing function but not to prevent the board from making decisions governing the structure and environment in which those policing functions occur.

The primary role of the board is to establish, after consultation with the Chief Constable, overall objectives and priorities for the provision of police services. The Chief Constable is responsible for administering the Police Service and overseeing its operation in accordance with the objectives, priorities and policies established by the board.

The Chief Constable reports to the board as a whole and is not accountable to any one or group of board members. The board has the authority to give orders and direction to the Chief Constable, but not to other members of the department. The board shall not direct the Chief with respect to specific operational decisions or with respect to day-to-day operations of the Service.

4.3 Governance and Policy Development

Police boards perform both governance and oversight functions. Governance refers to controlling and directing the making of policy, as well as directing and influencing decisions made by the organization. Oversight involves ensuring that legislated and mandated functions are carried out by the organization.

There are three basic principles of policy governance;

- 1. A governing body is not there to help the organization. It is there to own the organization on behalf of the community.
- 2. A governing body has authority while acting as a whole. Individual board members have no authority and the chair or designate has authority only when speaking on behalf of the board as a whole.
- 3. A governing body governs by policy (bylaw or resolution). These policies articulate values that act as boundaries within which the organization operates.

Effective governance involves setting policies that address end results and specifying what cannot be done in the course of trying to accomplish them. Consideration of policy results involves answering the following questions:

- What are the benefits/results this organization will produce?
- For whom will these results be produced?
- · At what cost?

The board needs to spend their limited time and energy on their most important policy functions.

These functions include:

- Establishing the mission of the police department;
- Outlining policy results and values to which the board wants the department to adhere to;
- Developing the annual departmental priorities and goals and objectives in consultation with the Chief Constable;
- · Establishing board practices; and
- · Clarifying board/staff relationships.

(Emphasis added)

Governance Issues

Governance Model

The Victoria Police Board operates using the Carver Model of Policy Governance. The Carver Model is based on a clear demarcation between the role of the Board and of the Chief Constable. Under the Carver Model the Board is responsible for making policy decisions while the Chief Constable is responsible for making operational decisions. There has been disagreement between the Mayors and the Chief Constable over whether certain decisions are policy or operational in nature. Both Mayors feel the Victoria Police Board has not been able to set strategic direction for the Department by deciding on overall policy.

Communication with and reporting mechanisms to the municipal Councils have not been addressed by the Board. Victoria City Council and Staff receive more information about the work of the Department. City staff can access Victoria Police Department financial information, as it is all available on the City's system, yet the Esquimalt's finance staff cannot. When Esquimalt requested crime statistics and costs broken down by community, they were informed that the Victoria Police Department and Board did not gather data on that basis and would not be able to provide it.

Strategic Planning Process

The Province expects Police Boards to develop strategic directions as described in the *B.C. Police Board Handbook*:⁵

4.2 Strategic Planning

Police boards are responsible for working with the Chief Constable to develop strategy, which provides the direction and scope of the police organization over the long term. Ideally, that strategy will match the organization's resources to its changing environment, in particular to its markets, customers and communities in order to meet stakeholders' expectations and concerns.

(Emphasis added)

At present, there is insufficient discussion at the Victoria Police Board about goals and policing priorities to meet the needs of the two communities the Department serves. The current strategic planning process does not involve input from either municipal Council. To develop the 2010 – 2020 strategic plan, 45 members of the community and staff of the Department met with a facilitator to draw up broad strategic goals. Only the two Mayors, in their capacity as Board members, attended from the two municipal councils. Senior department staff members are working to flesh out the goals.

Although the Board's Governance Manual requires annual business plans be prepared, this does not occur. The Board has not developed performance objectives. Although the Board has developed general performance measures for the Chief Constable, they are general, not tied to objectives or outcomes in an annual business plan.

Board meeting agendas

Neither the Board Chair nor Vice-Chair set the agendas for its meetings. Currently the Board agendas are developed by the Chief Constable in consultation with his senior managers and provided to the Chair for approval. There is no collaboration with the Vice-chair. Each meeting follows the same format, despite the issues facing the Board. There is no prioritizing of agenda items or system for ensuring Esquimalt's views are regularly considered. One Board member complained that valuable Board time is spent on a standing agenda item where individual Department staff members are introduced to the Board.

Conflict resolution

The Victoria Police Board has no process for resolving disputes over strategic direction or any other governance issue among its members.

⁵ BC Police Board Handbook (Victoria: Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General, Policing and Community Safety Branch, Police Services Division, 2005)

Decision-making about Service Provision/Policing Model

The Board has become so focused on its budget that it does not spend time examining policing priorities in the two communities. In addition, there is confusion over the nature of the service delivery. Many Esquimalt residents and elected politicians viewed amalgamation as identical to a fee-for-service contract. As a result they had some expectations the Victoria Police Department could not deliver.

Members of the Esquimalt Policing and Law Enforcement Advisory Panel referred to the Victoria Police Department as providing "contracted services" during their interviews. Even Victoria Police Board members thought there was a written service delivery agreement between the Victoria Police Department and the Township of Esquimalt. As a result of the confusion, councillors expected to be able to demand specific services and levels of service as well as Esquimalt-only usage statistics.

The amalgamation plan included a Victoria West patrol detachment, yet in 2004 the Victoria Police Department Operation Review resulted in three officers who specialized in community policing and all patrol officers being moved out of Esquimalt and redeployed downtown. The implications of the change in service delivery from a community-based model were not fully discussed by the Board.

Esquimalt residents want community-based policing with a strong prevention focus. Their elected officials describe the Victoria Police Department as using a "surge" model imported from the United States. Current Victoria Police Board members state community-based policing is too expensive to implement and old-fashioned.

Many of Esquimalt's elected officials looked to the District of Oak Bay's contract with the Saanich Police Department as a model for the Township. They did not appear to understand that there is a difference in the demographic make up of the two communities. Esquimalt's naval base, foster families, group homes and methadone clinics lead to a high level of Priority 1 calls, while Oak Bay has relatively few.

Structure of Victoria Police Board

Overseer or Advocate?

The work of the Victoria Police Board appears efficient, with an annual cycle of meetings and three active standing committees. However, there seems to be a lack of clarity about the Board's main purpose and leadership role. There is confusion, for example about whether the strategić planning process should be led by the Department or the Board. The Board has not adopted adequate measures to ensure it is fulfilling its mandate as the oversight body for the Victoria Police Department and as a result, some Board members are viewed by others as being advocates for the Department.

Some Board members appear to interpret the Board's responsibility to ensure there is no political interference in policing operations as a reason for not answering Councillors'

questions about policy direction and budget priorities. Despite letters and comments at meetings from two Esquimalt mayors about concerns, none of the other Board members whom I interviewed accepted that it was the Board's responsibility to ensure that the terms of the amalgamation, including the funding formula, were reviewed. Some of the members had not seen the Amalgamation Order or the transition plan and knew nothing of its contents.

Role of the Municipal Appointees

There is confusion about the role of municipal appointees. Two Board members were appointed to the amalgamated Victoria Police Board upon recommendation by their respective Councils. They see their role and accountabilities differently than those who recommended their appointment. The Esquimalt appointee has not been invited to report to the Township Council, despite her efforts. The Victoria appointee was informed she was responsible to the City Council and had to report to them regularly.

Role of the Chair

Board members are concerned about the role of the two Mayors as leaders on the Board. Many Board members view both mayors as partisan advocates for their Councils and as a result, discount their concerns. There appears to be little understanding by some Board members of the responsibility Mayors have for representing the interests of the citizens who elect them. Some actions by the Mayors have left other Board members wondering if they are able to separate their distinct roles. Overall, many current and former Board members feel that the Board Chair has not played enough of a unifying leadership role.

Under the terms of the *Police Act*, the mayor of the community served by a police department must be the Board chair. The *B.C. Police Board Handbook* states the duties of the Chair as:

3.4 Responsibilities of the Chair

As the chair of a municipal police board is also the mayor of the municipality, there is an inherent conflict of interest, particularly with respect to the budget. The chair should take care to recognize that the two roles are distinct. He/she should be aware of which role he/she is undertaking and whose interests he/she is representing at any point in time. This is particularly important as the chair is in a leadership position on the police board and may only cast a deciding vote in the event of a tie. ... (Emphasis added)

This may result in an inherent lack of true accountability to other members, as he or she cannot be removed for poor performance, failure to supervise the Chief Constable, or poor attendance.

Vice-chair or Co-chair?

The terms of amalgamation order provided for the Mayor of Victoria to chair the Victoria Police Board while Esquimalt's Mayor would be the Vice-chair. Esquimalt Councillors saw this as symbolic of the "country cousin" status for Esquimalt and wanted a change. Shortly after the current Mayor of Esquimalt was elected, she proposed that the Board be restructured to create two co-chairs.

In February 2009, the Victoria Police Board asked its Governance Committee to examine whether it was possible for the Chair position to be shared by the two Mayors. The Governance Committee prepared a report endorsing a structural change with some operational recommendations. The Board adopted the Committee's recommendation for a co-chair model whereby the Mayors would serve alternating six month terms. However, for various reasons the change was never implemented.

To the Mayor and Councillors of Esquimalt the Board's failure to change to a co-chair model was indicative of the lack of consideration given to Esquimalt as an equal partner in the relationship. The events surrounding the co-chair issue were a watershed in the relationship between Victoria and Esquimalt over police governance. The failure to implement an important symbolic change in 2009 caused a breakdown in trust that affected the work of the Board from that point on.

Role of the Director of Police Services

Victoria Police Board members and the Mayors and Councillors of both municipalities believed the Director of Police Services bore total responsibility for following up on the amalgamation terms. Because he is named in the *Police Act* as the person who resolves conflict over funding, municipal officials and Board members assumed he was responsible for resolving any ongoing conflict about governance. As a result they did not feel responsible for ensuring there was a process in place for dealing with disputes.

Section 27 of the *Police Act* refers to the role of the Director of Police Services when disputes arise over budget issues:

- (3) If a council does not approve an item in the budget, the director, on application by the council or the municipal police board, must
 - (a) determine whether the item or amount should be included in the budget, and
 - (b) report the director's findings to the municipal police board, the council and the minister.

Role of Staff

There is a need for the Board to clearly distinguish between the role of Board members and an appropriate role for the Department's staff.

Many Board members spoke about the active role played by the Victoria Police Department senior staff members in Board meetings. Board members expressed concern that the staff members did not understand that the role of staff is advisory.

Decision-making Processes - Finance

Funding Formula

The amount of money each municipality pays toward the Victoria Police Department budget is determined by the original funding formula contained in the amalgamation documents.

The formula adopted by the Transition Committee is based on both municipalities paying a share of all Department costs based on provincial assessed values for land. The initial formula was adopted as a stop-gap measure by the Transition Committee; as the amalgamation was due to take effect within fourteen weeks of the Finance Subcommittee being struck. The Committee pegged the percentage of Victoria Police Department costs to be paid by the Township to be cost neutral with the operating budget for Esquimalt's police service in 2002.

The intent of the Transition Committee was that the formula would be reviewed and modified as necessary. Increased property values in Esquimalt and reduced values in Victoria over the decade have resulted in a larger percentage of costs being paid by Esquimalt. There has been no review of the initial funding formula, as anticipated in the 2002 amalgamation plan. This has caused conflict between Victoria and Esquimalt because both municipalities believe they are paying too much for policing.

As there has been no impartial review of the funding formula, Esquimalt Council believes it has been paying an inequitable portion of the Department's costs. This has resulted in several actions by Esquimalt to contain costs, including motions refusing to pay budget increases or its portion of the salary of certain personnel. Yet in 2009 both Mayors signed a financial agreement that refers to maintaining the existing funding formula until 2013.

There is disagreement between Victoria and Esquimalt about what a revised formula would look like. For example, Esquimalt wants recognition of the Federal government's refusal to pay PILT on the provincial assessed value of their land. The City of Victoria interprets the 2009 Financial Agreement as confirming the continuation of the previous funding formula: that the municipalities would pay their share of costs based on the provincial assessed rate. The Township of Esquimalt disagrees, stating that the matter of which assessed rate would be applied was not specifically discussed as part of the Agreement.

Budget Process

Senior staff and the Mayors of both Victoria and Esquimalt would like more input into the development of the Victoria Police Department budget. Currently the Department's

annual budget is developed by the Department's Comptroller, the Chief Constable and the Board's Finance Committee and presented to the Board in summary form. The Finance Committee negotiates with the Department's senior staff through the Chief Constable to arrive at a draft for presentation to the Board. There is no mechanism for the Chief Financial Officers of Victoria and Esquimalt to meet with the Comptroller to discuss their fiscal constraints and challenges before he prepares budget estimates.

When the draft budget is presented to the Board, there is little analysis and discussion. The budget is not tied to an annual business plan or strategic objectives. The Board has not developed performance measures for evaluating budget allocations. Board members have been informed their role is not to question specific costs, as that is the raison d'etre of the Finance Committee. They are told it is not their role to direct the Department to reduce its expectations to keep costs in check.

Following the presentation and adoption of a draft budget by the Board, there is a joint meeting with the Victoria and Esquimalt Councils. When Councillors ask questions about the budget, members of the Board Finance Committee inform them the *Police Act* allows Councils only to question specific line items in the budget, but not to debate budget elements, priorities or amounts. Council members and the municipal Chief Administrative Officers feel frustrated that they are not provided with an understandable explanation of why policing costs keep rising while crime rates are falling. As a result, they are unable to explain to citizens why an increasing portion of the municipal budgets is spent on policing.

Another source of conflict in the Department budget process is the difference in the budget planning cycles. Esquimalt and Victoria have different annual planning cycles. Victoria is able to complete its planning the fall before the start of the budget year in January. Because the federal government does not inform Esquimalt the amount of PILT it intends to pay until January of each calendar year, the Township cannot complete its planning until later.

Costs

Both Victoria and Esquimalt Councils are concerned about the increase in policing costs over the past decade. The amalgamated Victoria Police Department budget increased by 45% between 2002 and 2009. The number of sworn officers has increased by 11.5% over the same period. The number of Priority 1⁷ calls has fluctuated over the past decade, but the number of Priority 2 to 9 calls has decreased.

⁶ Data provided by Victoria Police Department

⁷ Priority 1 calls are the most serious and urgent. They involve risks to life or risk of serious physical harm. Examples include: assaults, domestic disputes, home invasions, robberies, sexual assaults, shootings, stabbings and threats of suicide. Priority 2 calls are also urgent and include in-progress break and enter.

Regional Costs

Elected officials and Victoria Police Department staff members present for the amalgamation discussions assumed the merger was to be part of a bigger regionalization process. Therefore it was not deemed necessary to examine equitable payment of policing costs that could be classified as regional in nature. There is also disagreement about which, if any, of the Department's costs are attributable to policing residents of other municipalities.

Elected officials in both Victoria and Esquimalt believe that a portion of the Victoria Police Department's annual operating costs are regional in nature and should not be paid entirely by the region's two poorest municipalities. These include the cost of policing parades, sporting and cultural events, and some costs associated with homelessness and addiction. In 2009 67% of all criminal code offences in the region occurred in Esquimalt and Victoria. The costs of policing for these offences were borne by only 40% of the population. The population bearing the costs has the lowest income in the region.

Methods for Dispute Resolution

Resolution of Governance Disputes

There is no mechanism at the Board level for resolving disputes over governance issues, including priorities and service delivery policies. The lack of a mechanism resulted in Esquimalt calling for an audit of the Victoria Police Department in 2009 to deal with its concerns.

Resolution of Budget Disputes

The Victoria Police Board has no internal process for resolving disputes over the budget. When budget disputes have arisen in the past the Municipalities have sometimes acted in a manner that escalated the dispute.

Other Issues Affecting Board Effectiveness

Language and Culture

Esquimalt prides itself on being a distinct community with its own culture. Failure to recognize the community through nomenclature has caused resentment and alienation. There is no visual recognition that the Board and the police department are amalgamated. The Board's and the Department's communication materials contain only the City's name. Some publications contain the City of Victoria shield.

Communication

When the trust between the Municipalities began to deteriorate over the co-chair issue, communication suffered. There are no mechanisms in place to ensure regular communication between the senior staff of the municipalities and the Department. There are no joint events where Councillors and Board members can interact and begin to form working relationships. Informal lines of communication that had previously been used

were no longer followed. The Chief Administrative Officers stopped calling each other about issues of concern. The Esquimalt Mayor stopped raising the Township's concerns about issues or the need to review the funding formula at Victoria Police Board meetings. Staff from the Department and the municipalities who were not invited to participate in meetings assumed there was a deliberate decision to exclude them.

Behaviour Adding to Conflict Escalation

No one felt it was their responsibility to ensure the terms of the amalgamation were revisited and issues causing conflict were dealt with. The Victoria Police Department senior staff was involved in a serious internal conflict between 2004 and 2007. Afterwards they focused on rebuilding the Department and increasing officer strength. Neither Esquimalt nor Victoria Councils used the joint council budget meetings as an opportunity to raise issues and discuss possible solutions.

When the Minister of Public Safety and Solicitor General announced the audit in 2009 stakeholders were certain that funding, governance and other issues would be addressed. Others believed that the recent changes to the *Police Act* would deal with outstanding issues. These beliefs relieved them of accepting responsibility for dealing with concerns.

The Victoria Police Department Senior staff has not paid equal attention to both municipal governments. None of the Department's senior staff meet regularly with the Esquimalt Chief Administrative Officer, yet the Chief Constable meets with the Victoria Chief Administrative Officer. One of the senior staff has been openly critical during Board meetings of the efforts of the Esquimalt Mayor and the Director of Police Services to deal with Esquimalt's concerns. By appointing the same staff member as the Department's liaison person to the Esquimalt Advisory Panel, the Chief Constable sent a message that he endorsed this criticism.

The conflict between the Chief Constable and the Victoria Police Department Inspector assigned to Esquimalt worsened the relationship between community leaders and the Department. The Inspector provided details about his employment dispute with the Chief Constable to City Councillors and members of the Advisory Panel. Although he did an excellent job of developing good personal relations with the Township's leaders, Victoria Police Department senior staff felt he did not inform them of Esquimalt's concerns.

Proposed Solutions

The solutions proposed below are based on maintaining an amalgamated police department and board structure, but with changes, safeguards and a review in five years. The amalgamation was not given the support needed to succeed and be fairly evaluated as a model for providing good quality policing to the citizens of Esquimalt and Victoria. Despite the best intentions of the amalgamation Transition Committee, there was a lack of follow-up of most of the amalgamation terms. Conflict over governance and financial issues festered due to a lack of a resolution process.

Prior to the 2010 audit, there was no process to identify and examine the issues surrounding the operation of an amalgamated department. The audit did not review the Board's operations. To avoid unnecessary disruption to the citizens of both Victoria and Esquimalt and anxiety to the Victoria Police Department staff, I strongly recommend that the amalgamation be allowed to continue. But the continuation of the amalgamated Department and Board must be in a climate of transparency and with a plan to monitor its efficiency and responsiveness to community needs.

Overarching Recommendations - Name Change

To indicate there is a new way of doing business being undertaken I am recommending a name change for both the Board and Department to "Victoria & Esquimalt."

Recommendations:

- 1 Change the name of the Board to "Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board"
- 2 Change the name of the Department to: "Victoria & Esquimalt Police Department"
- 3 The Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board develop a plan (with budget) to change communication materials, car decals, and shoulder flashes to the new name within six months.

Overarching Recommendations - Framework Agreement

Conflict over the past decade has led to a breakdown in relationships and trust between the elected officials of Victoria and Esquimalt. Working together to resolve problems and design the future is a good first step in rebuilding trust and relationships. For each municipality's officials to trust the other, detailed rules need to be spelled out in writing. The process I am recommending for this is a Framework Agreement.

Recommendation:

- 4 The Mayors, Chief Administrative Officers and Chief Financial Officers of Victoria and Esquimalt and the Chief Constable, the Victoria & Esquimalt Police Department Comptroller and one Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board member ("Municipal Leadership Group") meet to negotiate a Framework Agreement for governance and funding of the Victoria & Esquimalt Police Department.
 - a) The Agreement would have a term of five years, after which it would be reviewed.
 - b) The Municipal Leadership Group could form working groups of specialist staff to develop recommendations on the funding formula and other technical matters. Recommendations of working groups would be referred back to the Municipal Leadership Group for ratification and to be appended to the Framework Agreement.
 - c) The Director of Police Services would provide a mediator and necessary funding to assist the Municipal Leadership Group to negotiate the Framework Agreement

The following matters identified as issues in this study would be negotiated as part of the Framework Agreement:

Service Delivery Policy

Esquimalt identified the following key concerns about policing the municipality: sworn officer complement and strength; sworn officers' headquarters; hours of operation of Esquimalt Public Safety Building counter; provision of equipment; back-up from Victoria detachments for major incidents; shift lengths and the process for determining work assignments.

Recommendation:

- The following service delivery policy matters be negotiated as part of the Framework Agreement:
 - a) The elements of the patrol services in Esquimalt
 - b) Identification of shared and specialized services to be supplied by Victoria & Esquimalt Police Department headquarters

Funding Formula

It is important that both municipalities agree that the formula used to determine how much they pay for shared services and overhead is fair and equitable. The financial staff has the technical knowledge to develop options for models and explain how each option would affect costs to the municipal governments.

Recommendation:

- A working Group composed of the Victoria and Esquimalt Chief Financial Officers and the Victoria & Esquimalt Police Department Comptroller would identify which services and funds are currently provided to Esquimalt and would be needed in the future, including, but not limited to:
 - a) Specialist services
 - b) Shared services
 - c) Administrative overhead
 - d) Relief staff pool to backfill during sick and other leaves
 - e) Reserve funds for liabilities such as retirements

Budget Development and Approval Process

Both Victoria and Esquimalt will be responsible for paying a portion of the Victoria & Esquimalt Police Department budget for shared services and overhead costs. The budget approval process needs to contain steps for ensuring open communication and be designed to work in sync with both municipalities' own budget planning cycles.

- 7 The Municipal Leadership Group design a process (with timelines) to be followed to examine and approve the Victoria & Esquimalt Police Department budget. Key considerations, based on issues identified by both municipalities, include:
 - a) A budget cycle that works for both municipalities
 - b) Appropriate level of detail required in budget presentations to Councils
 - c) Timelines for presentation of a draft budget and Annual Business Plan to the Councils
 - d) Timelines for presentation of the final budget and Annual Business Plan to the Councils

The Framework Agreement would establish and determine the membership of a Council of Chief Officers of the municipalities and the Victoria & Esquimalt Police Department to meet quarterly to ensure regular communication between the municipalities' and Department's senior staff about finances and meeting goals identified in the Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board strategic planning process

Conflict Resolution Process

Conflicts over service delivery costs, application of the funding formula and other matters can cause breakdowns in relationships if left to fester. Speedy access to conflict resolution mechanisms will preserve relationships.

Recommendation:

9 The Framework Agreement would contain a conflict resolution clause, including access to a standing roster of qualified mediators and access to arbitration pursuant to the *B.C. Commercial Arbitration Act* in the event mediation does not resolve the matter.

Overarching Recommendations – Review Process

It is essential that the new amalgamated structure will be properly reviewed and that there is clarity about who is responsible and when it will occur.

Recommendation:

- 10 The Director of Police Services would conduct a review in 2017 of:
 - a) Effectiveness of the Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board
 - b) The funding formula
 - c) Responsiveness of the Victoria & Esquimalt Police Department to community needs

Recommendations – Governance Issues and Structure

issues

Strategic Planning

The BC Police Board Handbook specifies that police boards are responsible for setting strategic direction and priorities for the Victoria & Esquimalt Police Department. A strategic plan will assist the Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board to develop a shared vision for policing and law enforcement in the two communities. The strategic plan forms a basis for planning work within the Board and the Department each year. Developing an annual Business Plan to map out how the goals in the strategic plan will be worked toward that year would inform the budget planning process.

- 11 The Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board lead a process to develop a five year strategic plan to establish policing and law enforcement priorities and goals for the Board and Department
- 12 The Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board invite each municipal Council to send two representatives to be part of strategic planning process

- 13 The Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board invite the Community Advisory Committees to be part of the strategic planning process
- 14 The Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board instruct the Chief Constable to develop Annual Business Plans, based on the approved Five Year Strategic Plan, for each fiscal year to detail advancement toward goals and how priorities will be met over the year
- 15 The Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board develop the Chief Constable's annual performance objectives based on specific priorities in Annual Business Plan and evaluate his/her performance against the objectives

Board Meeting Process and Roles

Clarity about roles, shared expectations and a common vision are essential for a well-functioning Board. Board members have a different interpretation of their role and the role of the Chair. The Board has not been functioning with a shared vision and some relationships have become strained. Reaching consensus among Board members will require a combination of training, facilitated discussion, and follow-up.

Recommendations:

- 16 The Police Services Division provide training to the Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board members about the role of the Board, role of the Co-chairs, responsibility of Board members for oversight, and the types of decisions that fall within its mandate
- 17 The Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board hold facilitated discussions to develop common understandings and a plan for how to work collaboratively, including the expectations they have of the Co-chairs and of each other; and how to create a culture of respect and innovation
- 18 The Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board ensure that the Board Co-chairs are developing the agendas and that items are prioritized within agendas
- 19 The Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board change its meeting agendas to include a standing agenda item: reports from Community Advisory Committees
- 20 The Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board clarify the role of community appointees to include:
 - a) Chairing the Community Advisory Committee
 - b) Responsibility for liaison with the Council
 - c) Responsibility for liaising with community members
- 21 The Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board clarify that the role of staff members attending its meetings is advisory

Structure

Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board

The structure of the Board must reflect the fact that it is an amalgamation. Both municipalities must feel they are treated as an equal partner in the relationship. Titles and names are symbolic of that equality.

- 22 The Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board be co-chaired by the Mayors of Victoria and Esquimalt, based on previous recommendations of the Victoria Police Board Governance Committee, including:
 - a) Each would serve alternating six month terms chairing Board meetings. This "Mayor in the Chair" would have overall responsibility for finalizing meeting agendas, setting the schedule of meetings and approving minutes
 - b) Both Mayors would collaborate on drafting meeting agendas
 - c) Both Mayors would collaborate on appointments to any standing committees
 - d) Both Mayors would collaborate to fulfill obligations as the Discipline Authority for the Chief Constable
 - e) Both Mayors would be able to speak for the Board, but would collaborate with the other beforehand to ensure that a consistent message is communicated
 - f) Any dispute in sharing the Chair responsibilities would be referred to the Board for resolution

New Community Advisory Committees

The policing needs of Victoria and Esquimalt may differ according to the community's needs. It is important that the Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board receive input from both communities about policing and law enforcement issues and needs if they are to meet citizens' expectations.

- 23 Two Community Advisory Committees be established:
 - d) Esquimalt Policing and Law Enforcement Advisory Committee
 - e) Victoria Policing and Law Enforcement Advisory Committee
- 24 The Committees would be chaired by the applicable community's appointee to the Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board
- 25 Three additional members be appointed from the community to each Policing and Law Enforcement Advisory Committee
- 26 Mayors be appointed as ex-officio members
- 27 The mandate of the Policing and Law Enforcement Advisory Committees include:
 - a) Liaison with community members and organizations re law enforcement and policing issues and needs
 - b) Reporting regularly to Councils re law enforcement and policing issues and concerns
 - c) Liaison with local detachment Inspectors regarding deployment to meet concerns and deal with public safety issues
 - d) Providing input on community policing matters to Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board
 - e) Conduct public opinion surveys regarding satisfaction with policing services
 - f) Ensure communities' issues are considered in the Board strategic planning process

Recommendations - Decision-making Processes about Finance

Funding Policing Services⁸

Municipal Councils are responsible under the *Police Act* for providing police and law enforcement within their communities. The Esquimalt Township Council has a clear vision of the policing they want for their community. Victoria City Council may wish to employ a different deployment model. Both communities could consider and balance their patrol wishes with their ability to pay. Specialized and shared services along with administrative overhead would be paid by both according to a renegotiated funding formula.

Recommendations:

- 28 Each municipality would be responsible for paying for its own patrol detachments' salaries and benefits (which staff would be included to be negotiated as part of Framework Agreement)
- 29 Each municipality would be responsible for paying a portion of overhead and shared services costs, based on a formula contained in the Framework Agreement by a working group composed of the municipal Chief Financial Officers and the Victoria Police Department Comptroller, with the assistance of a mediator.

Budget Development and Approval Process

The Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board is responsible for creating an annual budget for the Victoria & Esquimalt Police Department's operations. It is essential for its oversight function that all Board members are actively involved in developing the budget. Both Victoria and Esquimalt will be responsible for paying a portion of the budget for shared services and overhead costs. It is important for the elected officials in both municipalities to understand how taxpayers' money is being spent by being provided with detailed explanations for costs.

Recommendations:

- 30 The Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board Finance Committee develop a draft budget, tied to meeting the objectives in the Annual Business Plan (see recommendation 14)
- 31 The Finance Committee present the Draft Annual Business Plan and Budget to the Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board for detailed discussion, explanation of cost variances and recommended changes
- 32 The Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board follow the process for Council approval of the policing budget as specified in the Framework Agreement (see recommendation 7)

Access to Financial Information

Currently the Victoria Police Department shares an information system with the City of Victoria. The City's finance staff members are able to access the Department's information while the Township's staff cannot.

⁸ These recommendations would require amendment or termination of the 2009 Finance and Accounting Agreement

Recommendation:

33 The City of Victoria ensure that both municipal Chief Financial Officers have equal access to financial information in the City's system regarding Police Department costs

Ensuring Value for Money

The Victoria Police Department budget has increased by 45% since the amalgamation. Total calls for service have decreased over the same period. Municipal funds allocated to pay policing costs are not available to pay for social or recreational programs. The municipal councils need to be assured that valuable taxpayers' money is well-spent. **Recommendations:**

- 34 The Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board conduct an efficiency review of the Victoria & Esquimalt Police Department in 2012 to look for areas of budget savings
- 35 The Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board establish a schedule for regular efficiency reviews
- 36 The Victoria & Esquimalt Police Department develop Key Performance Indicators for Departmental operations
- 37 The Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board instruct the Chief Constable to gather statistics that are identified by the Municipal Leadership Group and provide them to the Chief Administrative and Financial Officers of the municipalities.

Conflict Resolution

Recommendation:

38 In the event of an unresolved conflict regarding any Annual Business Plan or budget issue between the Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board and Councils, the conflict resolution process contained in the Framework Agreement would apply.

Recommendations – Methods for Dispute Resolution and Managing Conflict

Various participants in this working relationship felt others did not pay attention to their concerns. When there is ongoing unresolved conflict, people blame others and make assumptions about their motivation. They say things out of frustration that hurt others' feelings. Trust breaks down and communication grinds to a halt. Board members and elected Municipal officials need quick access to conflict resolution processes so that issues can be identified and mutually acceptable resolutions negotiated.

- 39 All disputes would follow the process contained in the Framework Agreement
- 40 Existing unresolved disputes between the City of Victoria and the Township of Esquimalt regarding financial matters related to police services be resolved using the conflict resolution process in the Framework Agreement
- 41 The Police Services Division provide joint educationals and lead facilitated discussions with Councillors and Board members to develop and strengthen working relationships, and to create a common understanding about roles.

Topics for the sessions could include:

- a) Role of police boards
- b) The role of the Mayor on police boards
- c) The role of the community appointee on police boards
- d) Modern policing and crime prevention

Recommendations - Other Issues Affecting Board Effectiveness

Regional Costs

- 42 The Capital Regional District strike a working group composed of municipal Chief Financial Officers to conduct an analysis of which, if any, of Victoria & Esquimalt Police Department costs are regional in nature, and propose a formula for sharing costs between municipalities
- 43 The Mayors Victoria and Esquimalt invite other Mayors in the Capital Region to enter into discussions about sharing regional policing costs for the Victoria & Esquimalt Police Department

Appendix

Demographics and Criminal Code Offences⁹

	Population (2011)	Criminal Code Offences 2002-2009	Current Caseload/officer		
Victoria/Esquimalt	97,200	16, 228	72		
Saanich	111,300	6,133	42		
Central Saanich	16,400	772	36		
Oak Bay	18,200	987	44		

Calls for Service 2006-2011¹⁰

	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011 ·
Priority 1						
Victoria	2241	2414	2659	2260	2524	2539
	(80.9%)	(84.5%)	(86.1%)	(85.7%)	(82.1%)	(84.1%)
Esquimalt	530	444	431	378	550	479
	(19.1%)	(15.5%)	(13.9%)	(14.3%)	(17.9%)	(15.9%)
Priority 2						
Victoria	8648	10151	9975	7602	8449	7524
	(87.9%)	(88.9%)	(90.2%)	(89.2%)	(88.9%)	(88.6%)
Esquimalt	1192	1262	1089	919	1059	966
	(12.1%	(11.1%)	(9.8%)	(10.8%)	(11.1%)	(11.4%)
Priority 3			,		,	
Victoria	27546	24486	23051	16249	16245	15165
	(90.6%)	(90.2%)	(91.7%)	(90.2%)	(89.6%)	(90.5%)
Esquimalt	2845	2668	2076	1763	1887	1594
	(9.4%)	(9.8%)	(8.3%)	(9.8%)	(10.4%)	(10.4%)
Priority 4-9						
Victoria	18443	19287	16867	11263	11412	9943
	(90.4%)	(92.2%)	(92.4%)	(91.4%)	(92.2%)	(91.3%)
Esquimalt	1969	1636	1379	1017	969	948
	(9.6%)	(7.8%)	(7.6%)	(8.6%)	(7.8%)	(22.2%)

Data provided by Victoria Police Department
 Data from the 2010 Police Services Audit Report and Victoria Police Department

Policing Costs per Capita¹¹

	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	Increase
Esquimalt	234	226	228	246	261	279	300	332	42%
Victoria	303	305	319	347	362	366	391	414	37%
Combined	291	290	302	329	344	351	375 ·	400	37%
BC Average	214	241	244	257	273	279	300	310	45%

Percentage of Total Victoria Police Department Budget, by Community¹²

		2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011
Esquimalt	14.31	13.946	13.580	13.687	13.790	14.089	14.181	14.659	14.821	15.156
Victoria	85.69	86.054	86.420	86.313	86.212	85.911	85.819	85.341	85.179	84.844

Esquimalt's portion from amalgamation to 2011 has increased by 1.21% or \$503,358

Data provided by Victoria Police DepartmentData provided by Victoria Police Department